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AT A GLANCE

Formulafirst Ltd. is an investment company domiciled
on the British Virgin Islands that was created in 2002
through the merger of Sucellus Trading Ltd. and Optimum Securities 1000 Ltd. The investment company was
incorporated on the British Virgin Islands and is subject
to the local laws. As a British Virgin Islands investment
company listed on SIX, Formulafirst Ltd. offers considerable advantages compared to other collective investment vehicles with conventional legal structures.

Key Figures as of 31.12.2020
Share price:

CHF 32.–

Year High:

CHF 32.–

Year Low:

CHF 21.–

NAV per share:

CHF 32.–

Premium/Discount vs. NAV:

0.0%

Performance 2020:

3.39%

Performance since Jan. 2018

–2.77%

Performance since June 14, 1995
Formulafirst Ltd. invests
In owner-managed companies in Central Europe.

7.54% p.a.

Total market capitalization

CHF 12’655’136

Net Asset Value (NAV)

CHF 12’653’245

Liquid funds

CHF 86’903

Number of outstanding shares

395’473

DEVELOPMENT OF NET ASSET VALUE IN 2020
CHF

32
30
28
26
24
22

Details concerning our investment philosophy, organisation etc. are published on our homepage:
www.formulafirst.vg
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

CONTENTS

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

News of the Phase 1 trade deal between the US and China sent stock markets to new all-time highs in mid-January
2020. That upward trend was interrupted in the final week of January by the outbreak of the coronavirus in China.
Investor confidence abruptly changed in the last week of February when investors, confronted with daily headlines
about the coronavirus disease, realized that the virus would probably impact the world economy more than expected.
In March, the coronavirus outbreak was declared a pandemic and that declaration put a swift end to the 11-year-old
bull market on world stock markets. Huge government aid programs in several countries and regions to prop up
the economy as well as liquidity and securities purchase programs by various central banks led to a sharp rebound
by major stock indexes in April. Global stock markets continued to claw back lost ground in May. Stocks surged in
the middle of May because the biotech company Moderna published positive results from its initial clinical trial of a
COVID-19 vaccine candidate. Bad news about the economy was overlooked because unprecedented fiscal stimulus
plans and growing liquidity attracted investors to the stock market in droves. The positive trend in the financial markets continued in June on hopes of growing economic momentum in the wake of the huge fiscal stimulus packages
and the lifting of government-imposed restrictions. Led by NASDAQ, the US technology bellwether index, stocks
moved higher in July until the middle of the month. Most of those gains were surrendered during the final week of
trading though. Half-year results generally topped investors’ low expectations and the general response seemed to
be “sell on good news”. On the political front, the biggest headline was the EUR 750 billion recovery plan EU leaders
passed, primarily to help EU members whose economies had been hit particularly hard by the pandemic. That marked
the introduction of eurobonds with joint liability in all but name, and this decision stabilized the euro and weakened
the dollar. Global stock markets sustained their upward trend in August. The S&P 500, NASDAQ Composite and other
indexes hit new all-time highs. Investor confidence was fueled by better-than-expected economic data and increasing
hopes that an effective vaccine against COVID-19 would soon be available. Rising tension between Washington and
Beijing didn’t bother the market’s good mood. At Jackson Hole, the chairman of the Federal Reserve unveiled a more
flexible framework targeting inflation. This means the central bank is no longer pressured to take immediate action
if inflation climbs above the 2% mark. The new policy clears the way for an extended period of low interest rates
and accommodative monetary policy. Investors took some profits in September. Reasons for the consolidation were
the increasingly aggressive tone of the US election and the dim prospects that Congressional leaders would reach an
agreement on another economic stimulus package before the elections. Stock markets began the final quarter of the
year with renewed vigor. The prospects of a “Blue sweep” fueled hopes of more generous government spending.
A second wave of infections began to roll across Europe around the middle of October and will probably lead to a
weaker-than-anticipated recovery of the region’s economy in the fourth quarter. European stocks fell back to their
June levels as a result and, as in the spring, this dragged down the US market too. The outcome of the elections in the
US, with Joe Biden winning the White House but without a crushing “Blue sweep”, put the markets in a good mood.
The news that the COVID-19 vaccine being developed by US pharma giant Pfizer and its German partner Biontech
was highly effective gave markets more uplift. Shortly after their positive readout, Moderna and AstraZeneca also
published promising data on their vaccine candidate. Consensus now expects a return to normalcy during the second
half of 2021. While US stocks continued to advance in December, following the lead of the bellwether tech stocks,
European markets were stuck for a while. News that the European Central Bank was launching another monetary
stimulus program and expanding its bond-buying activity triggered little response from the market. Around midDecember markets rose on hopes that leaders in Washington would reach a compromise on another fiscal stimulus
plan and by comments from the Fed chair that monetary policy would remain expansionary for a long time to come.
The UK and the EU reached a breakthrough at the very last minute, averting a hard Brexit. Despite the coronavirus
pandemic and collapse in economic activity, many stock markets ended the year higher than they were a year ago.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS – CONTINUED

During the March 2020 correction, cash was reinvested in top-quality companies whose share prices had fallen to very
low levels. After the impressive market recovery, positions in stocks that had made hefty gains and whose portfolio
weightings had climbed to high levels were reduced and replaced with laggards that had catch-up potential.
A currency hedge on all euro-denominated positions was maintained throughout the year because a weakening of
the Eurozone economy and the anticipated ECB response in the form of a further loosening of the monetary policy
portended downside risks for the euro.
At the beginning of 2020, the Net Asset Value (NAV)* of Formulafirst Ltd. trended sideways between CHF 30 and
CHF 31.20. When the pandemic broke out in late February, its NAV fell to just under CHF 21 by mid-March in the
wake of the worldwide market sell-off. Thanks to extensive aid programs in countries and regions across the world,
stock markets staged a sustained recovery in the spring that was interrupted only briefly when the second wave of
the pandemic hit Europe in mid-October. In this movement Formulafirst Ltd’s NAV recovered to just over CHF 31 by
mid-October, briefly corrected to just over CHF 27 and then advanced again, ending the year at CHF 32, not far from
its high for the year.
Formulafirst’s Net Asset Value rose by 3.39% year-on-year (+19.41% in 2019), while the MSCI Europe benchmark
index closed 2020 with a negative return of 5.37% (+22.24% in 2019). The NAV of Formulafirst Ltd. stood at CHF 32
on December 31, 2020 (year-end 2019: CHF 30.95).
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Our selection of top-quality stocks performed very well in the extremely difficult market environment in 2020, resulting in an outperformance of 8.8%-points against the benchmark index MSCI Europe! We expect another positive
development of the portfolio in 2021.
Our selection of stocks from a universe of 50 owner-managed companies constitutes a solid portfolio of well-performing and well-managed globally active companies. The average dividend yield is attractive at 1.6% compared to
the recent interest levels. Valuations are fair considering the anticipated profit growth (average P/E for 2021E is 27.9),
balance sheets are solid (average equity ratio is 51.7%) and the average price/book ratio 2021 is a moderate 4.9.
The challenge facing many companies today is: How can I improve my innovative power and productivity in the face
of rising competition to defend if not increase my pricing power? In this race, owner-managed companies are clearly
at the head of the pack.
*The above calculation of Formulafirst Ltd.’s Net Asset Value (NAV) does not differ from the calculation methods used
in the periodic disclosures given in the interim and annual reports. NAV is presented on a per share basis.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS – CONTINUED

Largest holdings

Equity
-to-asset
ratio PB 21
PE21

Dürr AG

19.9

25.1%

2.1

Fielmann AG

30.6

54.6%

6.2

Forbo Hold. AG

20.6

60.7%

3.4

Fresenius SE

10.9

39.2%

1.1

Fuchs Petrolub SE

28.1

74.6%

3.8

SAP SE

21.6

47.9%

3.8

SGS SA

31.4

14.6%

15.3

Swatch Group AG

26.1

84.6%

1.1

Vifor Pharma AG

27.3

75.0%

2.4

Wacker Chemie AG

22.2

29.5%

2.4

Description

Market Position

Mechanical and plant engineering
Production and retailing of
eyeglasses, contact lenses
and selling of hearing aids
Focus on floor coverings
(linoleum) and belting
Global health care group
with products and services
for dialysis, hospitals and
outpatient treatment
Lubricants and related
specialties
Application and analytics
software, public and private
cloud
Inspection, verification, testing, certification
Producer of finished
watches, manufacturing all
components for the production of both mechanical and
quartz watches
R&D, production and marketing of pharma products in
the areas of iron deficiency,
nephrology and cardio-renal
Producer of hyperpure
polysilicon, semiconductor
wafers, a broad range of
silicones and polymers

One of the world leaders
Market leader in Germany

Global leader in flooring
and movement systems
One of the world’s leading
health care companies

World’s largest independent
lubricant manufacturer
World leader

World leader
World market leader

Global leader

One of the world’s top 3
producers in each area

After clearly outperforming the broader market during 2020, our portfolio of stocks is positioned with the same goal
in mind for the coming years. At the current share prices and based on current estimates of future profit growth,
major stock markets still offer much higher earnings yields compared to the bond yields of these borrowers. Equity
risk premiums are still well above the historical averages. A large liquidity wave continues to build up. Major central
banks are printing money and monetizing debt at a rapid pace. In 2021, quantitative easing is expected to increase
significantly. The US Treasury is likely to issue about USD 2.4 trillion in new debt, much of which will be absorbed by
the Fed. This means that the Fed’s balance sheet will continue to grow at a fast pace, especially as the Federal Reserve
tries to keep bond yields low. All this newly created money will not create inflation, but will flow into the stock market
and other areas! This will result in rising stock prices.
For and on behalf of the Board of Formulafirst Ltd.

Derek P. Baudains, Director
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MARKET OUTLOOK 2021

The bond markets seem to be overvalued. About a third
of the world bond markets show negative yields. Cyclical forces are increasingly negative for bonds. The ebbing of the deflationary risks could push up yields. The
odds of higher yields are most pronounced for longer
maturities. Monetary and fiscal policy will remain very
accommodative over the coming years even as private
demand increases, which will lift medium- to long-term
inflation uncertainty. Rising inflation uncertainty usually facilitates a steepening of the yield curve. Despite
these forces, the upside to yields will prove limited in
2021. The Fed’s new inflation target means that it will
be patient, and waiting for core PCE inflation to move
sustainably above 2% could take time. The US central
bank is therefore unlikely to increase interest rates for
many years. This inertia limits the immediate upside in
Treasury yields. While the Fed will not be quick to lift
off, its forward interest rate guidance is not going to get
any more dovish and the bond market is already pricingin the first rate hike for late 2023. This expected liftoff
date will be brought forward as the economy recovers,
meaning that long–maturity nominal yields, real yields
and inflation breakeven rates all have moderate upside.
The recent equity market leadership of growth stocks is
another limiting factor for higher yields. Growth stocks
are extremely sensitive to long bond yields. If the latter
move up too fast, it will scuttle bourses and unleash risk
aversion and deflationary pressures. This creates an upper bound on the speed at which yields can move up.
From a valuation point of view, the government bonds
from the European periphery seem to be the cheapest
while German Bunds and US Treasury Notes are exceptionally expensive. Real bond yields reflect this estimation. Additionally, the nascent fiscal risk-sharing created
by the European Commission’s Recovery Fund should
result in declining breakup risk premia embedded in peripheral bonds. Furthermore, the ECB’s asset purchases
are set to rise in response to Frankfurt’s efforts to fight
off the deflationary effect of both the euro’s appreciation and the second wave’s lockdowns.

7

Assuming strong worldwide stimulus from government
programs as well as central banks and no surge in supply of stock issues, 2021 should be an excellent year for
equities. We still are in the early innings of a new business cycle upswing. Statistically bull markets most often
end when earnings permanently decline. This observation means that equity bear markets rarely develop in
the absence of recession. As expensive as stocks may
be in absolute terms, the monetary and yield backdrop
creates a large enough buffer for now. The equity risk
premium is congruent with positive prospective equity
returns.
In addition, forward earnings estimates will rise further.
The gap between the Backlog of Orders and the Customers’ Inventories subcomponents of the ISM survey
indicates that earnings revisions will continue to climb.
Corporate pricing power is on the mend. Thanks to the
operating leverage embedded in equites, improving selling prices can quickly push the bottom line higher. The
rollout of vaccines in 2021 will only feed these dynamics and help profit growth even further. The benign expectations for the credit market is consistent with both
higher multiples and earnings. A well-functioning credit
market is essential to risk taking and multiples. It also
allows capital expenditures to remain well sustained and
cyclical spending to expand. Both these forces are bullish for profits. The expected weakening of the dollar will
ease global financial conditions. A weaker dollar pushes
down the global cost of capital, which strengthens the
global industrial cycle. Global stock markets overweight
the industrial and goods sectors relative to the overall economy. Therefore, global bourses benefit from a
weaker dollar.

MARKET OUTLOOK 2021

MARKET OUTLOOK 2021 – CONTINUED

The liquidity crunch that handicapped global markets in
March is over. Most foreign central banks have ample
access to dollar liquidity and do not rely on the Fed anymore, as its outstanding swap lines stand close to zero.
In 2009, this was a clear signal that the dollar liquidity
shortage was behind us. The Fed has increased its supply of domestic currency more aggressively than other
central banks. Today interest rates around the world are
at zero. Therefore, central banks’ balance sheet policy
and forward guidance are the main tools to communicate the future path of interest rates. Other G-10 central
banks have been lagging the Fed in terms of their balance sheet expansion. This has hurt the dollar and benefitted other currencies. US growth is lagging the rest of
the world. This might not last, but growth differentials
will continue to drive the performance of currencies, as
they did in recent years. The November PMIs showed
that the US economy held up well, but 2021 growth
expectations from the IMF and other agencies favor the
Eurozone. Europe is very sensitive to Chinese growth,
which could cause the US rate advantage to evaporate.

MARKET OUTLOOK 2021

More than with other commodities, the COVID-19 pandemic clobbered oil demand, especially those segments
of the market tied to transportation, such as motor fuels, jet and marine fuels. While the news about vaccines
is encouraging, it will be months before these treatments are available on the massive scale required to revive transportation demand. Demand for oil is expected
to recover following lockdowns in the US and Europe.
This process will become evident even before the vaccines have been rolled out on a large-enough scale to
affect transportation demand. The impact on energy demand of the vaccines themselves should become visible
toward the end of the first half of 2021. On the supply
side, the producer coalition lead by Saudi Arabia and
Russia is expected to continue to adjust supply to meet
demand. Hence, global oil inventories will fall further,
which will tighten the market. Based on these supply/
demand dynamics, Brent crude-oil prices will average
USD 63/barrel in 2021, which is above the forward curve
in oil markets.
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Details concerning the Equity Portfolio per 31 December 2020 and a schedule of the investments during 2020 are
listed in detail on page 34 (Section: Notes to the Financial Statements: Note 6).

Breakdown by sectors
Healthcare

29.8%

Materials

26.7%

Industrials

16.8%
14.4%

Consumer discretionaries
IT

7.6%

Consumer staples

5.2%

Forex –0.5%
Cash

0.0%

Breakdown by countries
Germany
Switzerland

59.6%
40.4%

The largest positions
10.3%

Wacker Chemie AG
9.1%

Fuchs Petrolub SE
Swatch Group AG

8.7%

8.5%

Dürr AG

8.3%

SGS SA

7.6%

SAP SE

7.5%

Vifor Pharma AG

7.3%

Fielmann AG

7.3%

Forbo Holding AG
Fresenius SE

6.4%

Currency Allocation
CHF
EUR
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99.9%
0.1%

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

BACKGROUND TO THE COMPANY

Capital structure and shareholders
The Company (“Company” or “Formulafirst”) has an
authorised share capital which is comprised of nine million bearer shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.01
per share. As of 31 December 2020, 395,473 (31 December 2019: 687,153) shares were outstanding, while
8,604,527 (31 December 2019: 8,312,847) were held
by the Company as treasury shares.
Formulafirst Ltd.’s shareholders are mainly Swiss and
European institutions.
Objectives and strategy
Formulafirst was founded as Optimum Securities 1000
Ltd. on 29 December 1994 in Tortola/British Virgin
Islands. Since 5 May 1999 the Company has been quoted on the SIX Swiss Exchange. The Company’s business
activities focus on trading and investing in financial instruments. The Company changed its name from Optimum Securities 1000 Ltd. to Formulafirst Ltd. on 18 December 2002.
Investment Guidelines of Formulafirst Ltd.
Experience shows that owners generally invest more successfully than employees. The investment company Formulafirst focuses on Smart Owners as they are known.
The investment universe includes owner-managed companies in Central Europe (Switzerland, Austria or Germany). Owner-managed companies and those that are
controlled by owner-oriented groups of investors are
generally distinguished by their consistent strategy of
long-term and sustainable growth. Since owner-managers have a substantial share of their wealth and, in most
cases, of their working time invested in the company,
their strategic business orientation includes goals such
as maintaining the company’s independence, a smooth
transfer to the next generation as well as safeguarding
and growing the company’s assets. The long-term perspective, in some cases spanning several generations, is
a major reason why these companies are more focused
on their long-term strategic positioning rather than on
the short-term maximization of returns.

BACKGROUND TO THE COMPANY

Investment Criteria
For owner-managed companies to be included in the
investment universe of Formulafirst, the following conditions must be met: a) headquarters in Central Europe
(Switzerland, Austria or Germany), b) listed on a regular
stock exchange, c) minimum market capitalization of
EUR 100 million, d) managed by owner-managers holding at least 15% but no more than 75% of voting rights.
The universe of owner-managed companies from which
the best stocks are picked by Formulafirst for investment
includes the 50 such companies with the highest market
capitalization. The companies selected form the basis for
Formulafirst’s investments.
Investment Strategy
Made up of the 50 owner-managed companies the investment universe is screened by a thorough fundamental analysis in a primarily “bottom-up” approach and
the most promising stocks are identified. Formulafirst
invests currently in equities and forwards, but may also
invest in convertible instruments, options (managing
existing positions), futures (to hedge currency and market risks) and shares of holding companies and funds.
Investment exposure is 100% of the Company assets.
The investment horizon is long-term, and the selection
of portfolio positions is limited to a reasonable number.
The size of individual investments may not exceed 10%
of the portfolio when purchased (cost). The investment
style is primarily based on the “value” approach and
investments are made in an anti-cyclical manner. The
maximum sector weighting in the portfolio should not
exceed 30% of investments.
Formulafirst is striving for 10% to 20% growth in assets
under management (AuM) in the short to medium term.
High net worth individuals and institutional investors are
the primary targeted groups, although the listing on SIX
Swiss Exchange means retail customers can also easily
invest in the Company.
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BACKGROUND TO THE COMPANY – CONTINUED

Market Positioning
The positioning of Formulafirst offers several advantages
compared to conventional mutual funds and investment
companies. The key advantage over conventional mutual funds is the very high degree of flexibility Formulafirst has in selecting financial instruments or in which
markets to invest. Compared to other investment companies, it is distinguished by lower-than-average price
variation from net asset value. The fact that Formulafirst
is historically trading at little or no discount to NAV underscores these advantages.

Fees
Formulafirst is distinguished by an extremely attractive and transparent fee structure. Management fees
amount to 1.5% p.a. A performance fee of 20% is
also paid after the high watermark has been exceeded.
Details of the performance fee can be found in note 12
of the financial statements.

Information Policy
Investors can visit the homepage of Formulafirst (www.
formulafirst.vg) to obtain up-to-date information on all
of its activities. In addition to periodic reporting (annual
and semi-annual reports), a monthly report containing
information about major portfolio positions and important events is published each month. The Corporate
Governance Section of the Annual Report is also available on request.
The Company periodically publishes general market reports and background information that are reflected in
the selected portfolio structure. Investors may submit
specific questions to the responsible Investment Manager (2trade group ltd.) through the Company’s website.
Formulafirst Ltd. is committed to meeting the individual
information needs of its investors and all potentially interested parties to the maximum extent possible.
For the sake of transparency, the performance of Formulafirst is compared with that of the MSCI Europe Index
as well as with the Smart Owners Index in the Monthly
Report publications.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
Annual Report and financial statements for each financial year that give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the
Company for that year. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable
and prudent;
• apply applicable accounting standards, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the Company will continue in business.
The directors confirm that they have complied with the
requirements in preparing the financial statements. The
directors are responsible for keeping proper books of account which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements are
prepared in accordance with British Virgin Islands Law.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
Results and dividends
The results for the year are set out in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income on page 17. The directors do
not propose to declare a dividend for 2020. There were
no dividends paid in 2019.

Directors
The names of the persons who were directors at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set
out below:
Derek P. Baudains
Markus Gresch
Paul Broxup
Directors’ and company secretary’s interests
Mr. Markus Gresch held 1,000 shares in the Company
at 31 December 2020 and 2019. Neither the company
secretary nor any of the other directors and their families had an interest in the shares of the Company at 31
December 2020 and 2019.
As disclosed in note 12, certain directors had a material
interest in a significant contract during the year in relation to the business of the Company.
The Investment Manager monitors the Company’s liquidity position on a daily basis, and the Board of Directors review it on a semi-annual basis.
Review of Business
Please see the Investment Manager’s Report.
Risk Management
This is contained in note 3 of the financial statements.
Events since year end
Please see note 17 of the financial statements.
Publication of financial statements
The financial statements will be published on the website www.formulafirst.vg upon completion. The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the corporate and financial information included on the
Company’s website.

On behalf of the Board

Derek P. Baudains
Director

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO
THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FORMULAFIRST LTD.
TORTOLA, BRITISH VIRGIN ISLANDS

Independent auditor’s report
to the shareholders of Formulafirst Ltd.
Tortola, British Virgin Islands
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Formulafirst Ltd., which comprise the statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2020, the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the statement of
changes in shareholders‘ equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the financial statements (pages 17 to 40) give a true and fair view of the financial position of Formulafirst
Ltd. as at 31 December 2020 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Article 14 of the Directive on Financial Reporting
(DFR) of SIX Swiss Exchange.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements”
section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession, as well as the IESBA Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Our audit approach
Overview

Overall materiality: CHF 126’000
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient and appropriate
work to enable us to provide an opinion on the financial statements as a whole,
taking into account the structure of the entity, the accounting processes and
controls, and the industry in which the entity operates.
As key audit matters the following areas of focus have been identified:
•

Valuation of investments

•

Ownership of investments

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Birchstrasse 160, Postfach, CH-8050 Zürich, Switzerland
Telefon: +41 58 792 44 00, Telefax: +41 58 792 44 10, www.pwc.ch
PricewaterhouseCoopers AG is a member of the global PricewaterhouseCoopers network of firms, each of which is a separate and independent legal entity.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO
THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FORMULAFIRST LTD.
TORTOLA, BRITISH VIRGIN ISLANDS

Audit scope
We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where subjective judgements were made; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in
all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. Our audit opinion aims to provide reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or
error. They are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall
Group materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative
considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures
and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate, on the financial statements as a whole.
Overall materiality

CHF 126’000

How we determined it

1% of net asset value (NAV)

Rationale for the materiality benchmark applied

We chose NAV as the benchmark because, in our view, this is the key metric
of interest to investors, and it is a generally accepted benchmark for investment
companies.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Valuation of investments
Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The investment portfolio comprises investments in marketable securities.

We gained an understanding of the design and implementation of controls relating to the valuation of investments in
order to determine whether appropriate controls are in
place at the Investment Manager.

We consider this area to be a key audit matter because of
the significance of the value of the investments in the financial statements.
As set out in note 6 (Schedule of investments) investments
amount to CHF 12.7 million or 99.26% of total assets.
The valuations of the investment are prepared by the Investment Manager using the valuation methods disclosed
in note 2 (Summary of significant accounting policies). The
Board of Directors approves the valuations of the investments.

We verified the quoted prices of marketable investments by
agreeing them to an independent source different to the
one used by the Investment Manager.
We obtained sufficient audit evidence to conclude that the
inputs and estimates used for the valuation of the investments lie within a reasonable range and that valuation
methods were both appropriate and consistently applied by
the Investment Manager and approved by the Board of Directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO
THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FORMULAFIRST LTD.
TORTOLA, BRITISH VIRGIN ISLANDS

Ownership of investments
Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

An independent custodian safeguards the investments as
set out in note 6 (schedule of investments).

We verified the ownership of investments by confirming the
existence of the investment holdings with the custodian.

There is a risk that Formulafirst Ltd. may not have sufficient
legal entitlement to these investments.

We obtained sufficient audit evidence to conclude that
Formulafirst Ltd. has sufficient legal entitlement to the investments.

We consider this area to be a key audit matter because of
the significant value of the investments in the financial
statements.

Other information in the annual report
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information comprises all
information included in the annual report but does not include the financial statements of Formulafirst Ltd. and our auditor’s reports thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information in the annual report and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information in the annual
report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS, Article 14 of the Directive on Financial Reporting (DFR) of the SIX Swiss Exchange, and for such
internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO
THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FORMULAFIRST LTD.
TORTOLA, BRITISH VIRGIN ISLANDS

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the website of EXPERTsuisse: http://expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-for-public-companies. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Rolf Birrer

Soib Shoazizov

Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Audit expert

Zurich, 31 March 2021
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes

2020
CHF

2019
CHF

Investment income/(loss)
2(f), 4

312,559

452,355

Net gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss

7

(161,911)

3,749,030

Net foreign exchange loss

7

(41,195)

(6,230)

109,453

4,195,155

241,199

301,707

31,148

38,814

Dividend income

Total net income/(loss)
Expenses
Management fees

12

Custody fees
Directors’ fees

12

Auditing and accounting fees

7,009

7,449

60,216

69,407

Administration fees

13

28,420

33,244

Legal fees

12

24,062

48,835

Other operating expenses

75,749

76,189

Investment transaction costs

53,953

15,178

Total operating expenses

521,756

590,823

(412,303)

3,604,332

(1,301)

(1)

(413,604)

3,604,331

Operating profit/(loss)
Finance costs
Interest expense
Profit/(Loss) before tax

(94,058)

(131,606)

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of
the Company

Withholding Tax

2(f,i)

(507,662)

3,472,725

Total comprehensive (loss)/income

(507,662)

3,472,725

Earnings/(Loss) per share, basic

2(k), 11

(0.86)

5.04

Earnings/(Loss) per share, fully diluted

2(k), 11

(0.86)

5.04

All amounts arose solely from continuing operations. There are no recognised gains/(losses) other than those dealt
with in the Statement of Comprehensive Income – see Note 7 of the financial statements.
Approved by the board of directors on 31 March 2021
and signed on its behalf by:

The accompanying notes on pages 21 to 40 form an
integral part of the financial statements.

Derek P. Baudains
Director
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2020

Notes

31 December 2020
CHF

31 December 2019
CHF

Cash and cash equivalents

2(h)

86,903

2,586,509

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

6,9

12,711,844

18,768,593

8

–

72,541

Prepayments

7,652

7,739

Total assets

12,806,399

21,435,382

Assets
Current Assets

Unrealised appreciation on open forward contracts

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Unrealised depreciation on open forward contracts
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

8

20,012

–

10

133,142

165,212

153,154

165,212

12,653,245

21,270,170

11

90,000

90,000

2(n)

10,000

10,000

Total liabilities
Net assets
Capital & Reserves attributable to the
Company’s Equity Shareholders:
Share capital
Capital redemption reserve
Less treasury shares held

11

(86,045)

(83,128)

2(n)

(28,894,070)

(20,787,724)

Retained earnings

41,533,360

42,041,022

Total Capital & Reserves attributable to the
Company’s Equity Shareholders

12,653,245

21,270,170

395,473

687,153

32.00

30.95

Share premium

Number of shares outstanding
Net asset value per share

Approved by the board of directors on 31 March 2021
and signed on its behalf by:

11

The accompanying notes on pages 21 to 40 form an
integral part of the financial statements.

Derek P. Baudains
Director
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Note

Balance at 1 January 2019

Share
Capital
capital redemption
reserve
CHF
CHF

Share
premium
account
CHF

Retained
earnings

Total

CHF

CHF

(83,097) (20,696,369)

CHF

90,000

10,000

38,568,296

17,888,830

Purchase of treasury shares

–

–

(45)

(133,310)

–

(133,355)

Sale of treasury shares

–

–

14

41,956

–

41,970

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year

–

–

–

–

3,472,725

3,472,725

90,000

10,000

(83,128) (20,787,724)

42,041,022

21,270,170

(83,128) (20,787,724)

11

Balance at 31 December 2019

Balance at 1 January 2020

90,000

10,000

42,041,022

21,270,170

Purchase of treasury shares

–

–

(2,958)

(8,207,575)

–

(8,210,533)

Sale of treasury shares

–

–

41

101,229

–

101,270

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year

–

–

–

–

(507,662)

(507,662)

90,000

10,000

(86,045) (28,894,070)

41,533,360

12,653,245

Balance at 31 December 2020

11

The capital redemption reserve arose as a result of the cancellation of treasury shares during 2001.
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Treasury
shares

The accompanying notes on pages 21 to 40 form an integral
part of the financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020
CHF

2019
CHF

(507,662)

3,472,725

(312,559)

(452,355)

94,058

131,606

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company*
Adjustment for
Dividend income
Withholding taxes
Interest expense
Net (increase)/decrease in investments
Net (increase)/decrease in open forward contracts
Net increase/(decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Net (increase)/decrease in prepayments
Cash from operating activities

1,301

1

6,056,749

(1,046,147)

92,553

(101,619)

(32,070)

22,469

87

16

5,392,457

2,026,696

Dividends received

312,559

452,355

Withholding taxes paid

(94,058)

(131,606)

(1,301)

(1)

5,609,657

2,347,444

101,270

41,970

Purchase of treasury shares

(8,210,533)

(133,356)

Net cash used in financing activities

(8,109,263)

(91,386)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(2,499,606)

2,256,058

2,586,509

330,451

86,903

2,586,509

Interest paid
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Sale of treasury shares

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents – end of year
*Includes FX gain/(loss) of (CHF 17,149) on Euro cash held during the year.

The accompanying notes on pages 21 to 40 form an
integral part of the financial statements.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

1 General information
The Background to Formulafirst Ltd. (“the Company”)
can be found on pages 10 and 11. Formulafirst Ltd. was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on December
29, 1994 (the Company changed its name from Optimum Securities 1000 Ltd. to Formulafirst Ltd. on 18 December, 2002, address: Formulafirst Ltd., P.O. Box 3483,
Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands) and as such
it is subject to the company law of the British Virgin Islands. It is a limited liability investment company. The
Company is quoted on the Swiss Exchange (SIX) as and
from 5 May, 1999.
The investment objective of the Company is to invest its
assets and to achieve a long-term capital growth for the
shareholders. The Company may affect such investment
through an asset manager who allocates the Company’s
assets by using a wide range of investment techniques
and styles as follows:
(a) To trade, buy, sell and otherwise acquire, hold,
dispose of, and deal in securities (in international
markets) such as listed stocks, convertible securities,
money market obligations, options as well as futures contracts. The sole objective of the Company’s
business is the appreciation of its assets through the
investment and speculative trading in above mentioned instruments.
(b) The Company will, in conjunction with the asset
manager, establish investment guidelines that set
forth the investment objectives and restrictions.
(c) To engage in any other business whatsoever, or in
any acts or activities, which are not prohibited under
any law for the time being in force in the British
Virgin Islands.
(d) To do all such other things as are incidental to or the
Company may think conducive to the attainment of
all or any of the above subjects.
The ultimate goal of the Company is to increase the Net
Asset Value of the Company’s shares.
The Company’s business year commences on January 1
and ends on December 31 of each year. The Company’s
financial statements are expressed in CHF and the financial statements are prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
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The principles of accounting applied in the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 correspond to those of the financial statements of 31 December 2019, unless otherwise stated.
2 Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these Financial Statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented unless otherwise stated.
a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 are prepared in accordance with IFRS and are
in accordance with Swiss law to the extent applicable
and the accounting guidelines of SIX. The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial
assets and financial liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) at fair value through profit and loss.
From 1 January 2020, the following existing revised IFRS and interpretations to existing standards were required to be adopted.
The Company has consequently adopted all relevant
and below mentioned standards since 1 January 2020.
• IFRS 3: Business combinations (effective 1 January
2020)
• IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7: Interest rate benchmark
reform (effective 1 January 2020)
• IFRS 16: Leases, Related rent concessions (effective 1
June 2020)
New Standards, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 that have not been
early adopted:
• Small amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 16, IAS 37 and
some annual improvements on IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IAS 41
and IFRS 16 (effective 1 January 2022)
• Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements on classification of liabilities (effective
from 1 January 2023)
• Amendments to IAS 8, changes to accounting estimates and errors resulting from the Accounting Policies and Estimates (effective from 1 January 2023)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2020

The impact of these new accounting standards and interpretations will not significantly affect the Company’s
results of operations of financial position.
b) Functional currency
The functional and presentation currency of the Company is CHF. The Company is incorporated in the B
 ritish
Virgin Islands and the currency of the British Virgin
Islands is USD. CHF is the functional currency and reflects the primary economic exposure of the Company
to CHF. The performance of the Company is measured
and reported to investors in CHF.
The Board of Directors considers CHF as the currency
that most faithfully represents the economic effects of
the underlying transactions, events and conditions.
c) Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency assets
and liabilities are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rate prevailing at the Statement of
Financial Position date. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from translation are included in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income.
Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to cash and
cash equivalents are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within ‘net foreign exchange (loss)/
gain’. Foreign exchange gains or losses relating to the financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value through
profit or loss are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within ‘net (loss)/gain on fi
 nancial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’.
The following exchange rates have been used to translate assets and liabilities in other currencies to CHF:

31 December
2020

31 December
2019

0.8838
1.0810

0.9679
1.0854

US Dollar
Euro

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

d) Financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss
Classification
The Company classifies its investments in equity securities, and related derivatives, as financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading are
those acquired or incurred principally for the purposes
of selling or repurchasing in the short term. Derivatives
are also categorised as financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading. The Company does not classify any
derivatives as hedges in a hedging relationship.
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are those that are managed, and
their performance evaluated, on a fair value basis in accordance with the Company’s documented investment
strategy. The Company’s policy is for the Investment
Manager and the Board of Directors to evaluate the information about these financial assets on a fair value
basis together with other related financial information.
Recognition/derecognition
Regular-way purchases and sales of investments are
recognised on the trade date – the date on which the
Company commits to purchase or sell the investment.
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair
value. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Financial assets
are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows
from the investments have expired or the Company has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Realised gains and losses on investment disposals are
calculated using the first-in first-out (FIFO) method.
Measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising
from changes in the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss category are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income within ‘net gain/(loss) on financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Fair value estimation
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value of financial assets and liabilities
traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives and trading securities) are based on quoted market
prices at the close of trading on the reporting date. The
fair value price is the last traded market price for both
financial assets and financial liabilities where the last
traded price falls within the bid-ask spread.
e) Forward contracts
Forward contracts are fair valued at the difference between the original contract amount and the market
value of open forward contract positions at the balance
sheet date. The movement in fair value of open contract
positions is recorded in net gain/(loss) on financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Realised gains or
losses are recognised on the maturity date of the contract and are included as income in net gain/(loss) on
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
f) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income gross of withholding taxes when the
Company’s right to receive payment is established (the
ex-dividend date).
g) Transaction costs
Transaction costs are legal and professional fees incurred
to structure a deal to acquire the Company’s investments as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (FVPL). They include the upfront fees and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers and
due diligence fees. Transaction costs, when incurred are
immediately recognized in profit and loss as an expense.
h) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand,
bank overdrafts, plus current accounts held with banks
and money market deposits with a maturity of three
months or less from the date of acquisition. The carrying
amounts are a reasonable approximation to fair value
due to their short-term maturity.
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i) Taxation
The Company is registered as an International Business
Company in the British Virgin Islands under the provisions of the International Business Company Ordinance
(Cap 291). Accordingly, no tax is payable in this jurisdiction on its profits. The only tax suffered by the Company
is withholding tax deducted at source.
j) Accrued Expenses
Expenses are accounted for on accruals basis. All
expenses are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
k) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share at the period end is calculated
using the weighted average number of shares in issue,
net of treasury shares held. Diluted earnings per share is
calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares.
l) Net asset value per share
The net asset value per share is calculated by dividing
the net assets included in the Statement of Financial
Position by the number of shares outstanding at period
end.
m) Segment reporting
2trade group ltd. the Investment Manager makes the
strategic resource allocations on behalf of the Company.
The Company has determined only one operating segment as there are no sub portfolios, which are managed
separately in line with IFRS 8.
n) Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax. Incremental costs directly attributable
to the issue of new ordinary shares or options, or for
the acquisition of a business, are included in the cost of
acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Where the Company re-purchases its own ordinary
shares (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from equity attributable to the
Company’s equity holders until the ordinary shares are
cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such shares
are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is recognized as an increase in equity and the resulting surplus
or deficit on the transaction is presented within share
premium attributable to the Company’s equity holders.
The consideration received or paid for ordinary shares
issued or re-purchased respectively is based on the value
of the Company’s net asset value per ordinary share at
the date of the transaction.
The capital redemption reserve arose as a result of the
cancellation of treasury shares during 2001.
o) Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. Actual results may differ from these estimates
and most differences may be material. It also requires
the Board of Directors to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Company’s accounting policies.
The areas where significant assumptions and estimates
are made regarding the financial statements are set out
in note 5.

3 Risks and risk management
i) Strategy in using financial instruments
In the normal course of its business the Company enters into various financial instruments which expose it to
certain risks. These financial instruments include investments in common stock and forwards. The Company
enters into derivatives in order to achieve the desired
risk profile. The derivatives used are usually speculative
in nature and are not usually used for hedging purposes.
Generally, these financial instruments represent future
commitments to purchase or sell other financial instruments at specific terms on specified future dates.
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The contract amounts of forward contracts reflect the
extent of the Company’s involvement in the particular class of financial instrument and do not represent
the Company’s risk of loss due to counterparty nonperformance. These financial instruments expose the
Company to market risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and
currency risk.
The Company’s overall risk management focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s
financial performance. The Company selectively uses
derivative financial instruments to moderate certain
risk exposures. For the Company’s investment strategy
please refer to background to the Company on page
10 and 11.
ii) Market risk
The Company is exposed to equity securities price risk
and derivative price risk. This arises from investments
held by the Company for which prices in the future are
uncertain. Where non-monetary financial instruments –
for example, equity securities – are denominated in currencies other than CHF, the price initially expressed in
the foreign currency and then converted into CHF will
also fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange
rates.
All security investments present a risk of loss of capital.
The Investment Manager moderates the risk through
the careful selection of securities and other financial
instruments. Except for financial futures and forward
contracts, the maximum risk resulting from financial instruments is determined by the fair value of the financial
instruments. Possible losses from financial futures and
forward contracts can be unlimited. The Company’s
overall market positions are monitored on a line by line
basis by the Investment Manager. The Board of Directors
check the exposures on a half yearly basis. The Directors
have continuous discussions on risk and market positions. On special occasions the Directors meet at short
notice to discuss the Company’s overall market position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(a) Market price risk
The Company’s market price risk is managed through
diversification of the investment portfolio. Formulafirst
invests in owner-managed companies and those that are
controlled by owner-oriented groups of investors. These
companies are generally distinguished by their consistent strategy of long-term and sustainable growth. Since
owner-manager have a substantial share of their wealth
and in most cases, of their working time invested in the
company, their strategic business orientation includes
goals such as maintaining the company’s independence,
a smooth transfer to the next generation as well as safeguarding and growing the company’s assets. The longterm perspective, in some cases spanning several generations, is a major reason why these companies are more
focused on their long-term strategic positioning rather
than on the short-term maximization of returns. The
weight of a single stock in the portfolio of Formulafirst
can equal 10% of the assets (at cost) at most. The Company also follows a sector diversification approach. The
portion of one sector cannot exceed more than 30%
of total assets. The securities held by the Company and
their proportion of net asset value is disclosed in note 6.
The Company classifies its investments in equity
securities and related derivatives, as financial assets

or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss. The overall market exposures of securities were
CHF 12,711,844 at 31 December 2020 (31 December
2019: CHF 18,768,593). The notional exposures of the
forward contracts are disclosed in note 8 to the financial
statements.
The volatility of the benchmark MSCI Europe Index for
the period 1st January 2016 to 31st December 2020
was 14.25% (standard deviation) on an annualized
basis, for the period from 1st January 2015 to 31st
December 2019 12.17%. If the benchmark index had
increased/decreased by a standard deviation this would
have increased/decreased the assets by approximately
CHF 1,811,438 at 31 December 2020 (31 December
2019: CHF 2,284,138).
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Sensitivity analysis is based on historical data and cannot take account of the fact that future market price
movements, correlations between markets and levels
of market liquidity in conditions of market stress may
bear no relation to historical patterns. The market price
risk information is a relative estimate of risk rather than
a precise and accurate number. The market price risk
information represents a hypothetical outcome and is
not intended to be predictive. Future market conditions
could vary significantly from those experienced in the
past.
At 31 December 2020 the fair value of equities exposed
to price risk were as follows:

Equity securities at
fair value through
profit or loss

31 December
2020
Fair value
CHF

31 December
2019
Fair value
CHF

12,711,844

18,768,593

12,711,844

18,768,593

(b) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the effects of fluctuations in
the prevailing levels of markets interest rates on the fair
value of financial assets and liabilities and future cash
flow. The majority of the Company’s financial assets and
liabilities are non-interest bearing. As a result, the Company is not subject to significant amounts of risk due
to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
rates. Any excess cash is invested at short-term market
interest rates. The Company’s interest-bearing financial
assets and liabilities expose it to risks associated with the
effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market
interest rates on its financial position and cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2020

The table below summarizes the Company’s exposure to
interest rate risks.

At 31 December 2020

Interest Bearing
Interest Bearing
Less than 1 month 1 month to 2 years
CHF
CHF

Non-Interest
Bearing
CHF

Total
CHF

–

–

86,903
12,711,844

Assets
Cash at bank

86,903

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

–

–

12,711,844

Other Assets

–

–

7,652

7,652

Total Assets

86,903

–

12,719,496

12,806,399

Liabilities
Unrealised depreciation on
forwards contracts

–

–

20,012

20,012

Other Liabilities

–

–

133,142

133,142

Total Liabilities

–

–

153,154

153,154

Interest Bearing
Interest Bearing
Less than 1 month 1 month to 2 years
CHF
CHF

Non-Interest
Bearing
CHF

Total
CHF

At 31 December 2019

Assets
2,586,509

–

–

2,586,509

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

–

–

18,768,593

18,768,593

Unrealised depreciation on
forwards contracts

–

–

72,541

72,541

Cash at bank

Other Assets

–

–

7,739

7,739

Total Assets

2,586,509

–

18,848,873

21,435,382

Liabilities
Other Liabilities

–

–

165,212

165,212

Total Liabilities

–

–

165,212

165,212

Changes in interest rates neither on the upside nor on
the downside have a material impact on the Company’s
net asset value at 31 December 2020 or at 31 December
2019.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
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(c) Foreign exchange risk
The Company’s policy is to enter into hedging transactions when it is appropriate for a certain currency but
does not apply hedge accounting. The Company holds
both monetary and non-monetary assets denominated
in currencies other than the CHF, the functional currency.
Currency risk as defined in IFRS 7 is the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Company is exposed to currency risk as monetary
assets and liabilities of the Company may be denominated in a currency other than the functional currency.
The Company’s currency risk is mainly concentrated in
movements between the CHF and the EUR.
The volatility of the EUR against the CHF for the period from 1st January 2016 to 31 December 2020 was

At 31 December 2020

CHF
CHF

4.61% (standard deviation) on an annualized basis and
4.99% for the period from 1st January 2015 to 31st
December 2019. If the EUR had increased/decreased by
a standard deviation against the CHF this would have increased/decreased net assets by approximately CHF 428
in the year 2020 (decreased/increased net assets by approximately CHF 1,787 in the year 2019).
The table below summarises the Company’s assets
and liabilities, monetary and non-monetary which are
denominated in a currency other than Swiss Franc (all
figures in Swiss Franc).
As can be seen from these tables the Company’s currency exposure on monetary assets and liabilities is not
significant in the current or prior period.

EUR
CHF

USD
CHF

Total
CHF

Assets
Monetary assets
Non-monetary assets

5,139

81,764

–

86,903

5,140,105

7,578,470

921

12,719,496

(127,737)

(5,405)

–

(133,142)

(20,012)

–

–

(20,012)

Liabilities
Monetary liabilities
Non-monetary liabilities
Less nominal value of forward
exchange contracts

7,650,960

(7,650,960)

–

–

Total

12,648,455

3,869

921

12,653,245

At 31 December 2019

CHF
CHF

EUR
CHF

USD
CHF

Total
CHF

Assets
Monetary assets

1,757,322

829,187

–

2,586,509

Non-monetary assets

6,087,860

12,760,005

1,008

18,848,873

(154,359)

(10,853)

–

(165,212)

–

–

–

–

Less nominal value of forward
exchange contracts

13,579,347

(13,579,347)

–

–

Total

21,270,170

(1,008)

1,008

21,270,170

Liabilities
Monetary liabilities
Non-monetary liabilities
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iii) Credit risk
Credit risk represents the potential loss that the C
 ompany
would incur if the counterparties failed to perform pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Company.
Substantially all of the assets and cash of the Company
are held by Helvetische Bank. The Company is exposed
to credit risk through the use of Helvetische Bank as the
Custodian. Helvetische Bank is a private company and
is regulated by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory
Authority called FINMA.
To mitigate the risks to which the Company is exposed
from the use of the Custodian, the Investment Manager
employs specific procedures to ensure that the counterparties to the Company are reputable institutions
and that the credit risk is acceptable to the Company.
The Company only transacts with custodians that are
regulated entities subject to prudential supervision, or
with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-

rating agencies. In addition, the Company’s securities
are maintained in segregated accounts. Thus, in the
event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Custodian, the
assets are segregated and protected. The Company will
however be exposed to credit risk on cash balances held
by the Custodian. In the event of the insolvency or bankruptcy of the Custodian, the Company will be treated as
a general creditor of the Custodian in relation to cash
holdings of the Company.
Derivative transactions are entered on a covered basis.
All transactions in listed securities are settled/paid for
upon delivery using approved brokers. The risk of default
is considered minimal, as delivery of securities sold is only
made once the broker has received payment. Payment is
made on a purchase once the securities have been received by the broker. The trade will fail if either party fails
to meet its obligation. The Investment Manager monitors the Company’s credit position on a daily basis, and
the Board of Directors reviews it on a half yearly basis.

Counterparty Exposures
At 31 December 2020
Broker

Financial Assets
at fair value
CHF

Financial Liabilities at fair value
CHF

Cash
CHF

Total
CHF

Helvetische Bank

–

(20,012)

86,903

66,891

Total

–

(20,012)

86,903

66,891

Financial Assets
at fair value
CHF

Financial Liabilities at fair value
CHF

Cash
CHF

Total
CHF

Helvetische Bank

72,541

–

2,586,509

2,659,050

Total

72,541

–

2,586,509

2,659,050

At 31 December 2019
Broker

iv) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may not be
able to generate sufficient cash resources to settle its
obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so on
terms that are materially disadvantageous. The Company’s listed securities are considered readily realisable,
as all of the equity positions are listed on the stock exchange. The Company may periodically invest in derivative contracts traded over the counter, which are not
traded in an organised market and may be illiquid.
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As a result, the Company may not be able to liquidate its
investments in these instruments quickly at an amount
close to their fair value to meet its liquidity requirements,
or be able to respond to specific events such as deterioration in the creditworthiness of any particular issuer.
The Investment Manager monitors the Company’s
liquidity position on a daily basis, and the Board of

Directors review it on a semi-annual basis.
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The Company may at its absolute discretion purchase,
redeem or otherwise acquire any of its shares for such
consideration as it considers appropriate, and either
cancel or hold such shares as treasury stock. The price
paid by the Company for such shares must be equal or
less than the Net Asset Value effective at the time of
acquisition.
The table below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groups, on an undiscounted
basis.
At 31 December 2020
Non-Derivative Liabilities:
Less than 1 Month
CHF

1–3 Months
CHF

3–12 Months
CHF

Total
CHF

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

(50,385)

–

(82,757)

(133,142)

Total non-derivative financial liabilities

(50,385)

–

(82,757)

(133,142)

Less than 1 Month
CHF

1–3 Months
CHF

3–12 Months
CHF

Total
CHF

Derivative Liabilities:

Forward contracts

–

(20,012)

–

(20,012)

Total derivative financial liabilities

–

(20,012)

–

(20,012)

Less than 1 Month
CHF

1–3 Months
CHF

3–12 Months
CHF

Total
CHF

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

(85,060)

–

(80,152)

(165,212)

Total non-derivative financial liabilities

(85,060)

–

(80,152)

(165,212)

Less than 1 Month
CHF

1–3 Months
CHF

3–12 Months
CHF

Total
CHF

Forward contracts

–

–

–

–

Total derivative financial liabilities

–

–

–

–

At 31 December 2019
Non-Derivative Liabilities:

Derivative Liabilities:
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v) Managing Capital and Reserves attributable to
the Company’s Equity Shareholders
The Company defines its reported equity as capital to
be managed. The objective of the Board of Directors is
to increase the equity on a net asset value basis through
the Company’s investment strategy. There were no external requirements regarding capital during the year
2020 (2019: CHF nil).
The capital of the Company is represented by the net
assets attributable to the shareholders. The Company’s
objective when managing the capital is to safeguard the
ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and to maintain a strong capital
base to support the development of the investment activities of the Company.
vi) Fair Value Measurements
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in
active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives and
trading securities) are based on quoted market prices at
the close of trading on the period end date. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Company is the last traded price; the appropriate quoted
market price for financial liabilities is the last traded
price. The Company uses mid-market prices as a basis
for establishing fair values for derivatives held.
A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active
market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group,
pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
For all other financial instruments, the Company determines fair value using other valuation techniques. For
financial instruments that trade infrequently and have
little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and
requires varying degrees of judgement depending on
liquidity, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risk affecting the specific instrument.
The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be determined with certainty, and valuation techniques employed may not fully
reflect all factors relevant to the positions the Company
holds. Valuations are therefore adjusted, where appropriate, to allow for additional factors including model
risk, liquidity risk and counterparty risk.
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The carrying value less impairment provision of other
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate
their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for
disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the
future contractual cash flows at the current market
interest rate that is available to the Company for similar
financial instruments.
Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used
in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy
has the following levels:
• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access
at the measurement date (level 1);
• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2); and
• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair
value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.
For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed
against the fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair
value measurement uses observable inputs that require
significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs,
that measurement is a level 3 measurement. Assessing
the significance of a particular input to the fair value
measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors specific to the asset or liability.
The determination of what constitutes ‘observable’
requires significant judgement by the Company. The

Company considers observable data to be that market
data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved
in the relevant market.
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The following tables analyse within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s financial assets and liabilities (by
class) measured at fair value:
At 31 December 2020

Assets

Level 1
CHF

Level 2
CHF

Level 3
CHF

Total
CHF

12,711,844

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss:
– Equity securities

12,711,844

–

–

– Derivatives

–

–

–

–

Total assets

12,711,844

–

–

12,711,844

Level 1
CHF

Level 2
CHF

Level 3
CHF

Total
CHF

Liabilities
Financial liabilities held at fair value
through profit or loss:
– Derivatives

–

(20,012)

–

(20,012)

Total liabilities

–

(20,012)

–

(20,012)

Level 1
CHF

Level 2
CHF

Level 3
CHF

Total
CHF

18,768,593

At 31 December 2019

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss:
– Equity securities

18,768,593

–

–

– Derivatives

–

72,541

–

72,541

Total assets

18,768,593

72,541

–

18,841,134

Level 1
CHF

Level 2
CHF

Level 3
CHF

Total
CHF

– Derivatives

–

–

–

–

Total liabilities

–

–

–

–

Liabilities
Financial liabilities held at fair value
through profit or loss:

Investments whose values are based on quoted market
prices in active markets, and therefore classified within
level 1, include listed equities.
Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not
considered to be active but are valued based on quoted
market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing
sources supported by observable inputs are classified
within level 2. These include over-the-counter derivatives. As level 2 investments include positions that are
not traded in active markets and/or are subject to trans-
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fer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect
illiquidity and/or non-transferability, which are gener
ally based on available market information. There were
no transfers between any of the levels in the current or
prior period.
Investments classified within level 3 have significant
unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequently. They
include private equity and corporate debt securities. The
Company held no level 3 investments at any stage during the period or at the previous year-end.
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The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s assets and liabilities not measured at
fair value but for which fair value is disclosed:
At 31 December 2020

Assets

Level 1
CHF

Level 2
CHF

Level 3
CHF

Total
CHF

Cash and cash equivalents

86,903

86,903

–

–

Prepayments

7,652

–

–

7,652

Total assets

94,555

–

–

94,555

Liabilities

Level 1
CHF

Level 2
CHF

Level 3
CHF

Total
CHF

Accruals

–

(133,142)

–

(133,142)

Total liabilities

–

(133,142)

–

(133,142)

Level 1
CHF

Level 2
CHF

Level 3
CHF

Total
CHF
2,586,509

At 31 December 2019

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

2,586,509

–

–

Prepayments

7,739

–

–

7,739

Total assets

2,594,248

–

–

2,594,248

Level 1
CHF

Level 2
CHF

Level 3
CHF

Total
CHF

Accruals

–

(165,212)

–

(165,212)

Total liabilities

–

(165,212)

–

(165,212)

Liabilities

The assets and liabilities included in the above table
are carried at amortised cost; their carrying values are a
reasonable approximation of fair value. Cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held with
banks, prepayments and other short-term investments
in an active market. Accruals represent the contractual
amounts and obligations due by the Company for settlement of expenses.
The total prepayments amount of CHF 7,652 at yearend (2019: CHF 7,739) consists of corporate secretarial
fees of CHF 6,731 and director fees of CHF 921.
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4 Segment reporting
Analysis between activities is not presented as the Company’s operations comprise a single class of business and
are not focused on specific geographical regions. IFRS
8 requires disclosures in respect of the chief operating
decision maker and certain disclosures in respect of the
country of origin of income. Management have determined that the chief operating decision maker is the
Investment Manager, 2trade group ltd.

However, the following tables show the breakdown of
dividend income and investments at fair value by their
respective countries of origin:

Dividend income
for year ended
31 Dec 2020
CHF

Investments
at fair value
31 Dec 2020
CHF

Switzerland

134,728

5,133,374

Germany

177,831

7,578,470

Total

312,559

12,711,844

Dividend income
for year ended
31 Dec 2019
CHF

Investments
at fair value
31 Dec 2019
CHF

Country

Country
Switzerland

142,576

6,008,588

Germany

309,779

12,760,005

Total

452,355

18,768,593

5 Critical judgements in applying the Company’s
accounting policies
The Company makes estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial period. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.
Management makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
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All revenues are derived from financial assets and are
attributed to a country based on the domiciliation of the
issuer of the instrument. The Company has determined
only one operating segment as there are no sub portfolios, which are managed separately in line with IFRS 8.

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are outlined
below.
Taxation
The judgements in relation to taxation have been set
out in note 14.
Fair value of derivative financial instruments
The Company may, from time to time, hold financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets, such as
over-the-counter derivatives. Fair values of such instruments are determined by using valuation techniques as
described on page 30.
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6 Schedule of investments

Number of shares
at 31 December 2020

Number of shares
at 31 December 2019

Duerr AG

29,844

35,780

Fielmann AG

12,920

27,120

609

968

Fresenius SE & Co KGaA

19,562

31,096

Fuchs Petrolub SE

22,733

36,137

6,573

10,448

874

2,033

8,227

16,870

Long listed financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

Forbo Holding AG

Henkel AG & Co KGaA
Rational AG
SAP SE
SGS Ltd

394

627

2,275

–

540

–

The Swatch Group AG

4,600

4,570

Vifor Pharma AG

6,948

8,589

10,324

16,410

Sonova Holding AG
Straumann Holding AG

Wacker Chemie AG
Total long listed financial instruments

Total Investment in securities
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Fair value in CHF
at 31 December 2020

% of net asset value
at 31 December 2020

Fair value in CHF
at 31 December 2019

% of net asset value
at 31 December 2019

1,077,480

8.52%

1,179,772

5.55%

928,032

7.33%

2,119,298

9.96%

924,462

7.31%

1,595,264

7.50%

800,148

6.32%

1,693,577

7.96%

1,141,181

9.02%

1,732,012

8.14%

655,799

5.18%

1,045,524

4.92%

719,427

5.69%

1,582,072

7.44%

953,505

7.54%

2,203,041

10.36%

1,051,980

8.31%

1,662,177

7.81%

523,250

4.14%

–

–

557,010

4.40%

–

–

1,110,900

8.78%

1,233,900

5.80%

965,772

7.63%

1,517,247

7.13%

1,302,898

10.30%

1,204,709

5.66%

12,711,844

100.46%

18,768,593

88.24%

12,711,844

100.46%

18,768,593

88.24%
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7 Net (loss)/gain on financial assets and liabilities
at fair value

Year ended
31 December 2020
CHF
Realised gains on investments held at fair value
Realised gains/(losses) on forwards
Change in unrealised gains/(losses) on investments held at fair value
Change in unrealised gains on forwards
Realised currency (losses)/gains on investments held at fair value

Year ended
31 December 2019
CHF

2,868,387

912,197

135,395

262,210

(2,670,469)

2,783,612

(92,553)

101,619

(380,925)

17,010

(21,746)

(327,618)

(161,911)

3,749,030

Year ended
31 December 2020
CHF

Year ended
31 December 2019
CHF

Realised (losses)/gains on other non-base currency transactions

(24,046)

721

Unrealised currency (losses)/gains on non-base cash held
during the year

(17,149)

(6,951)

Total

(41,195)

(6,230)

Unrealised currency (losses)/gains on investments held at fair value
Total

The below table shows the net foreign exchange gain/
(loss) amount during the year:

8 Forward contracts
Forward contracts are contractual obligations to buy or
sell financial instruments on a future date at a specified price established in an Over the Counter (OTC)
transaction. The Company enters into these exchange
contracts agreeing to buy or sell foreign currency at a
pre-determined rate on a specified date in the future.
Changes in the contract’s value are accounted for as
either unrealised gain/(loss) until the contract has matured at which time the gain/(loss) is realised. Realised
and unrealised gain/(loss) on contracts is accounted for
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income through net
(loss)/gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit and loss.
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The following table shows the value of the forward contracts held.

Helvetische Bank is the counterparty for all forward contracts.

Year ended
31 December 2020
CHF

Year ended
31 December 2019
CHF

Unrealised gain/(loss) on open forward contracts

(20,012)

72,541

Unrealised net gain/(loss) on open forward contracts

(20,012)

72,541

The notional open forward contracts at the year-end are
set out below:
At 31 December 2020

Forward contract

CHF

EUR

Maturity

Fair Value
CHF

% of net asset
value

7,650,960

(7,100,000)

22.03.21

(20,012)

(0.16)%

CHF

EUR

Maturity

Fair Value
CHF

% of net asset
value

13,625,000

(12,500,000)

19.06.20

72,541

0.34%

At 31 December 2019

Forward contract

9 Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Listed investments:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss at beginning of
the year
Additions during the year at purchase price

Year ended
31 December 2019
CHF

18,768,593

17,722,446

2,537,030

618,390

Sales during the year at selling price

(8,389,026)

(2,957,444)

Change in unrealised gains on investments held at fair value

(2,670,469)

2,783,612

Realised (loss)/gains on investments held at fair value

2,868,387

912,197

Realised currency gains/(losses) on investments held at fair value

(380,925)

17,010

(21,746)

(327,618)

12,711,844

18,768,593

Unrealised currency (losses)/gains on investments held at fair value
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss at
end of the year
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Year ended
31 December 2020
CHF
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10 Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Total accrued expenses at the end of the year, are detailed below:

As at 31 December 2020
CHF

As at 31 December 2019
CHF

Management fees

46,957

79,289

Audit fees

64,000

60,000

Other fees

18,757

20,152

3,428

5,771

–

–

133,142

165,212

Administration fees
Director fees*
Total accounts payable and accrued expenses
*Director fees have been fully paid for 2020 and 2019.

11 Shareholders’ equity and earnings per share

Authorised share capital

At the beginning and end of the year

Year ended
31 Dec 2020
No. of shares

Year ended
Year ended
31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
CHF No. of shares

Year ended
31 Dec 2019
CHF

9,000,000

90,000

9,000,000

90,000

8,312,847

83,128

8,309,739

83,097

295,750

2,958

4,538

45

(4,070)

(41)

(1,430)

(14)

8,604,527

86,045

8,312,847

83,128

395,473

3,955

687,153

6,872

Treasury shares
At the beginning of the year
Purchase of treasury shares
Sale of treasury shares
At the end of the year
Number and value of ordinary shares out
standing at the end of the year (nominal value
per share is CHF 0.01).

The Company’s share capital is divided into bearer shares
with a par value of CHF 0.01 each. All shares not issued
are held as treasury shares. Treasury shares are available
for issue but until such time they are not entitled to participate in the profits of the Company and do not carry
any voting rights.
Each issued outstanding share ranks equally as to dividends and all other pecuniary rights associated with the
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ownership of the issued shares in accordance with their
par value. Each issued share entitles the holder to exercise one vote. Voting rights are exercised at the general
meetings at which resolutions must be passed by an
absolute majority of the votes allocated to the shares
represented at the shareholders’ meeting, except as
provided otherwise by the Memorandum and Articles
of Association or by British Virgin Islands Law for certain
resolutions.
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Earnings/(loss) per share

Weighted average number of shares in issue
during the year
Net profit/(loss) for the year in (CHF)
Earnings/(loss) per share (in CHF), basic

Year ended 31 December
2019

591,997

688,553

(507,662)

3,472,725

(0.86)

5.04

As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, there are no items
of a potentially dilutive effect and therefore, there is no
difference between the basic and diluted earnings per
share.

2020 was CHF 33.18 (31 December 2019: CHF 33.18).
The High-Water Mark remained unchanged during the
year. Performance fees for the year 2020 were CHF nil
(2019: CHF nil).

The Company did not pay any dividends in the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2019: CHF nil).

Legal advisors
Gresch & Schwab is the legal advisor to the Company.
Markus Gresch, director of the Company, is a senior partner of Gresch & Schwab. During the year the Company
received advisory services amounting to CHF 24,062
(2019: CHF 48,835) of which CHF nil remains payable
at the year-end (2019: CHF nil).

12 Related parties
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party when making financial or
operational decisions.
Investment manager
The Company is managed by 2trade group ltd., based
in Switzerland. Pursuant to the terms of an Investment
Management Agreement, since 1 January 2015 the
Company pays 2trade group ltd. a management fee
equivalent to 1.5% per annum of the net asset value
of the Company, payable quarterly in arrears. Management fees for the year were CHF 241,199 (2019:
CHF 301,707) of which CHF 46,957 remains payable at
year-end (2019: CHF 79,289).
The Investment Manager is also entitled to a performance fee based upon the performance of the net asset value of the shares, accrued daily and payable quarterly in arrears. The performance fee is equal to 20%
of the amount, if any, by which the net asset value of
the shares (after deduction of the management fee and
before deduction of the performance fee) exceeds the
High-Water Mark for that year. High Water Mark means
an amount equal to the higher of (i) the High-Water
Mark on the immediately preceding quarter end or (ii)
the net asset value on the immediately preceding quarter end at which a performance fee was payable by Formulafirst Ltd. The High-Water Mark as at 31 December
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Year ended 31 December
2020

Directors
Directors’ remuneration for the year was CHF 7,009
(2019: CHF 7,449) of which CHF nil remains payable
at the year-end (2019: CHF nil). Mr. Marcus Gresch also
held 1,000 shares in the Company at 31 December
2020 (2019: 1,000).
Company Secretary
LTS Secretaries Limited is Company Secretary to the
Company. Mr. Derek Baudains, director of the Company, is the Chief Executive Officer of the Louvre Group
Limited which owns LTS Secretaries Limited. During the
year the Company received company secretarial services amounting to CHF 16,155 (2019: CHF 15,865) of
which CHF nil remained payable at the year-end (2019:
CHF nil)
13 Significant Agreement
Swiss Financial Services (Ireland) Ltd acts as Administrator of the Company. The Administrator is entrusted
with administrative matters such as bookkeeping and
correspondence, and calculation of the NAV, and liaises
between the Board of Directors, the Auditors and the
Investment Manager.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2020

The administration fee is charged monthly in Euros, fixed
at the EUR/CHF foreign exchange rate prevailing at the
end of the respective month. The fee is paid quarterly.
The administration fee is calculated as follows, 0.11%
p.a. on the first CHF 75 million in net assets and 0.10%
p.a. on the net assets exceeding CHF 75 million but is
subject to a minimum fee per month of EUR 1,000. Net
Assets for purposes of such fee calculation are defined
as the Company’s assets less its liabilities before accrued
liabilities for management and incentive fees as well
as audit fees, banking expenses and other accrued expenses. The Administrator also receives EUR 5,000 for
the preparation of the annual financial statements and
EUR 5,000 for the preparation of the semi-annual financial statements.
During the year Administration fees amounted to
CHF 28,420 (2019: CHF 33,244) of which CHF 3,428
remained payable at the year-end (2019: CHF 5,771).

about the way enacted tax law is applied to offshore investment funds. This creates uncertainty about whether
or not a tax liability will ultimately be paid by the Company. Therefore, when measuring any uncertain tax
liabilities management considers all of the relevant facts
and circumstances available at the time which could influence the likelihood of payment, including any formal
or informal practices of the relevant tax authorities.
At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the
Company has measured uncertain tax liabilities with respect to foreign capital gains taxes at CHF nil and while
this represents management’s best estimate, the estimated value could differ significantly from the amount
ultimately payable.

15 Employees
The Company had no employees during the current or
previous year.

14 Taxation
The Company invests in securities issued by entities
which are virtually all domiciled in countries other than
the British Virgin Islands. Many of these foreign countries have tax laws which indicate that capital gains taxes
may be applicable to non-residents, such as the Company. Typically, these capital gains taxes are required to be
determined on a self-assessment basis and, therefore,
such taxes may not be deducted by the Company’s broker on a “withholding” basis.
In accordance with IAS 12 – Income Taxes, the Company is required to recognize a tax liability when it is
probable that the tax laws of foreign countries require
a tax liability to be assessed on the Company’s capital
gains sourced from such foreign country, assuming the
relevant taxing authorities have full knowledge of all the
facts and circumstances. The tax liability is then measured at the amount expected to be paid to the relevant
taxation authorities using the tax laws and rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting year. There is sometimes uncertainty
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16 Significant events during the year
There were no significant events during the year.

17 Post balance sheet events
There were no material subsequent events which have
a bearing on the understanding of the financial statements.

18 Approval of financial statements
The Directors approved the financial statements on
31 March 2021.

19 Authorisation for issue
The Financial statements were authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors on 31 March 2021.
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The information in the following sections is based on the
Corporate Governance Directive of SIX Swiss Exchange.
For the sake of clarity and completeness, certain information might be given more than once in these sections. The numbers given in parentheses refer to the
respective provision of SIX Swiss Exchange. SIX Swiss
Exchange provisions that are not relevant to Formulafirst
Ltd. (the “Company”) are not being referred to.
References are also made to relevant passages in the
annual report or the www.formulafirst.vg website.
Group structure (1.1)
The Company is a pure investment company. It has no
subsidiaries. All investments are owned directly by the
Company.
Domicile:

Formulafirst Ltd. P.O. Box
3483, Road Town, Tortola,
British Virgin Islands

Listing:

SIX Swiss Exchange
CH-8021 Zurich, Segment
Investment Trusts

Market capitalisation:

CHF 12,655,136 per
31.12.2020

Valor:

1462983

ISIN Code:

VGG3637V1094

Significant shareholders (1.2)
The Company’s shareholders mainly consist of institutional investors based in Switzerland and other European countries. The shares held by Neue Helvetische Bank,
Zurich, are required by virtue of its market-making activities. The Company is not aware of any existing shareholder pooling agreements or of any significant groups
of shareholders.
Cross-Shareholdings (1.3)
The Company maintains no cross-shareholdings.
Capital structure (2. – 2.2)
For details about capital structure, shares outstanding,
authorized capital see Notes to the Financial Statement,
Note 11 shareholders’ equity and earnings (loss) per
share, page 38.
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As per December 31, 2020, the Company maintains no
conditional or authorized capital.
Changes in capital (2.3)
For details about changes in the capital structure see
Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity on page
19 of the Financial Statement.
Shares and participation certificates (2.4)
The ordinary share capital of the Company amounts to
CHF 90’000, consisting of nine million bearer shares,
with par value of CHF 0.01 each. Of this total, 395,473
were outstanding and fully paid in as of December 31,
2020. There are no participation certificates o
 utstanding.
All outstanding shares are equally entitled to dividends
and all other financial rights. The holders of outstanding
shares are entitled to one vote per share at the general
meetings of shareholders, where resolutions are passed
by an absolute majority of the votes cast. The Company
is entitled to repurchase some or all outstanding shares
at any time, provided the price paid per share does not
exceed the applicable Net Asset Value per share on the
date of purchase.
The remaining 8,604,527 bearer shares are held by the
Company as Treasury shares. These shares have no par
value. They are not entitled to a share of the company’s
profits and carry neither voting rights nor the right to
any dividend payments.
The company is entitled at any time to offer these shares
or to allocate them or write options on them, provided
that the issue price per share is not less than the applicable Net Asset Value per share on the date of issue.
Profit sharing certificates (2.5)
There exist no profit sharing certificates.
Limitations on transferability and nominee registrations (2.6)
There exist no limitations on transferability and nominee
registrations.
Convertible bonds and warrants/options (2.7)
There are no convertible bonds and warrants/options
existing.
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Board of directors (3/3.1)
Derek P. Baudains, Chairman (executive)
(MBA FCIS TEP FSI British citizen, born 1957, residing
in Guernsey, Member of the Board of Directors since
2002), completed his studies with the Master of Business Administration (MBA). He was engaged as Managing Director of Midland Bank Trust Corporation (Guernsey) Limited from 1985 to 1991. Afterwards he became
Director and Chief Executive of Viking Trust Group Limited as well as Director of Leopold Joseph & Sons (Guernsey) Executor and Trustee Company Limited. Since 1994
he has been the Chief Executive Officer of the Louvre
Group Limited, with offices in Guernsey CI.
Derek P. Baudains was elected to the Board of Directors
of Formulafirst Ltd. on June 28, 2002. Derek P. Baudains
is also the CEO of Louvre Group Limited. LTS Secretaries Limited acts as Company Secretary to the Company.
Paul Broxup, Director (executive)
(IOB Trustee Diploma, British citizen, born 1953, residing in East Langton, UK, since 2018) is a non-executive
Director of Louvre Trust (Guernsey) Limited since September 2018. Since 2013 he is also the Director and
Owner of Revet Ltd., a UK consulting company, which
provides consultancy services to the Louvre Group Limited. From 2015 till the end of February 2020 he served
as a non-executive Director of Louvre Family Office Sarl
in Geneva. Between 2000 and 2013 he was engaged
as Director in trust and company administration in the
Louvre Group Limited. Paul Broxup was a member of the
Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners in UK till 2013.
He qualifies as an Associate of the Institute of Bankers in
the UK. Paul has over 40 years experience in the international fiduciary business.
Paul Broxup is a member of the Board of Directors since
May 26, 2017.
Markus Gresch, Director (executive)
(lic. iur., LL. M., Swiss citizen, born 1958, residing in
Pfäffikon/SZ), completed his studies of Law at the University of Zurich. Afterwards he was engaged as consultant for multinational companies with Winterthur Life
Insurance where he was responsible for pension planning services. Since 1990 he’s been working in different law offices before founding his own lawyer’s office
Gresch&Schwab in 1999.
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In addition to his function as member of the Board, Mr.
Markus Gresch acts as legal advisor to the Company.
Markus Gresch is member of the Board of Directors
since the beginning of the company in December 29,
1994 (see Background to the Company, Objectives and
Strategy, on page 10 of this annual report).
Activities and functions (3.2)
No member of the Board of Directors sits on governing
or supervisory bodies of important corporations, institutions or foundations established under private and
public law, exercises a permanent management or consultancy function for important interest groups or holds
a public or political office.
Elections and terms of office (3.4)
The Articles of Association stipulate that the shareholders present or duly represented at the ordinary general
meeting shall elect the members of the Board of Directors for a specific term of office. The current practice
since the establishment of the Company has been to
elect the persons to the Board for a term of one year at a
time. The members of the Board are elected individually.
There are no term limits for Board members. The members of the Board of Directors were elected for a term
of one year by the general meeting on May 22, 2020.
The first-time election of the individual members is specified in paragraph 3.1 above.

Internal organization structure (3.5.1 – 3.5.2)
Allocation of tasks within the board (3.5.1), members
list and area of responsibility for each committee of the
board of directors (3.5.2):
Derek P. Baudains

Chairman of the Board

Paul Broxup

Member

Markus Gresch

Member

For details regarding the members of the Board see also
section (3/3.1).
There are no specific Board committees with assigned
tasks. The Board of Directors takes all decisions in
corpore. The minimum quorum requirement is two
Directors.
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Work methods of the Board of Directors and its
committees (3.5.3)
The Board of Directors constitutes itself and elects a
Chairman from among its members. The Chairman sets
the agenda of the Board of Directors meetings. The
members of the Board of Directors are provided with
adequate documentation to prepare for deliberation of
the items on the agenda in advance of Board meetings.
The Board of Directors meets as often as necessary but
at least once every business year. It shall meet when convened by the Chairman or at the request of any member.
Resolutions of the Board of Directors are decided by a
majority of votes cast. Circular resolutions are permitted.
Minutes of the deliberations of the Board of Directors
and the resolutions passed shall be kept. The average
duration of the Board meetings is one hour.
LTS Secretaries Limited, represented by Mr. Derek P.
Baudains, acts as Secretary of the Company since May
2017. Mr. Derek P. Baudains has immediate access to all
relevant information concerning the Company.
The Board of Directors met 10 times during the business
year 2020.
Definition of areas of responsibility (3.6)
The Board of Directors is responsible for the operational
management of the Company. It also monitors the investment activity of third parties contractually bound to
manage the Company’s investment assets and ensures
adherence to the investment guidelines. All matters that
are not reserved for other governing bodies or third parties by law or by the Articles of Association or by agreements signed with third parties fall within the authority
of the Board of Directors.
All duties, power, proceedings and responsibilities of
the Directors are described in detail in the Articles 46
to 78 of the Articles of Association of the Company
on its website (http://www.formulafirst.vg/2013/05/07/
revidierte-statuten/).
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Information and control instruments vis-à-vis the
Senior Management (3.7)
Executive management of the Company is performed
by the Board of Directors (see paragraphs 3.5.3 and 3.6
above). The Board of Directors monitors the activity of
the Investment Manager and the Administrator. The
Chairman of the Board of Directors informs the other
Board members about the course of business during the
conduct of Board meetings. If any extraordinary events
occur, all other Board members will be informed immediately.
The control instruments of the Board of Directors are
the daily NAV and the monthly report. This publication
includes the NAV, the performance figures, risk statistics,
assumptions on the financial markets and the most important positions as well as general information about
the Company.

Senior Management (4)
Members of the Senior Management (4.1)
See paragraph 3.1 above.
Other activities and functions (4.2)
See paragraph 3.2 above.
Management contracts (4.4)
Investment Manager: The Investment Management
Agreement with 2trade, Baarerstrasse 2, 6300 Zug is
disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements. The Investment Management Agreement between the Investment Manager and the Company can be terminated at
any time in writing.
Secretary: LTS Secretaries Limited, British Virgin Islands,
is the Company’s Secretary. LTS Secretaries Limited renders trust and fiduciary services for international corporate and private clients. The Secretary of the Company
is responsible for correspondence and the organization
and holding of shareholder meetings and serves as the
point of contact with the authorities. The respective
agreement was concluded for an indefinite period and
can be terminated by either party giving to the other no
less than 30 days written notice. It is paid compensation of CHF 15,000 each year. Including a payment for
extraordinary items (e.g. organization annual general
meeting) and legal charges, the total amount paid was
CHF 16,155.– during the fiscal year 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Administrator: Swiss Financial Services (SFS) (Ireland)
Ltd., Old Kilmeaden Road, Waterford, Ireland, is the
Administrator. SFS is specialized in administration and
accounting services especially for U.S. and offshore
domiciled investment products. The Administrator is
responsible for the Company’s accounting and serves
as the interface between the Board of Directors, the
Auditors and the Investment Manager. Remuneration
for the services rendered by the Administrator amount
to 0.11% p.a. for the first CHF 75 million of net assets
and 0.10% p.a. for the amount over and above this
mark, subject to a minimum fee of EUR 1,000 a month.
Plus EUR 5,000, for the preparation of the annual financial statements, and EUR 5,000 for the preparation of
the semi-annual financial statements. The respective
agreement was concluded for an indefinite period with
a minimum duration of 12 months and can be terminated by either party subject to a notice period of 90
days. Compensation paid for fiscal year 2020 amounts
to CHF 28,420.

In addition to his function as member of the Board, Mr.
Markus Gresch acts as legal advisor to the Company (as
mentioned in 3.1). Mr. Gresch was conferred additional
compensation for his services rendered as legal advisor
(details see paragraph “Additional fees and remunerations” below).
Compensation for former members of governing
bodies (5.3)
The company paid no compensation during Fiscal Year
2020 to former executive or non-executive members.
Share allotment in the year under review (5.3)
There was no distribution or allocation of shares to
members of the Board in the reporting period.
Share ownership (5.3)
The number of Formulafirst Ltd. shares held by members
of the Board as of the reporting date was as follows:
(a) executive members:

Compensation, shareholdings and loans (5)
Content and method of determining the compensation and stock ownership programs (5.1)
The Board of Directors decides every year on compensation, share ownership programs and loans granted to
members of the Board. Compensation is paid in cash
and amounts to a flat-rate fee of USD 2,500 per member. No options or shares in the Company are distributed
as compensation. The entitlement of each member to
compensation lapses at the end of that member’s term
of office.
Compensation for acting members of governing
bodies (5.3)
Every member is entitled to a flat-rate compensation of
USD 2,500 for fiscal year 2020. These payments due
were accounted for in the 2020 accounts and entered
under accounts payable. The payment of this compensation will be transacted in the new fiscal year.
A total of USD 7,500 was accrued in 2020 financials in
relation to the acting members of the Board of Directors
as compensation.
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Derek P. Baudains

none

Paul Broxup

none

Markus Gresch

1,000 shares

(b) non-executive members:
There are no non-executive members on the Board.
Options (5.3)
No option rights are distributed or allocated to members
of the Board.
Additional fees and remunerations (5.3)
Mr. Markus Gresch acts as legal advisor to the Company
in addition to his function as Board member (see 3.1).
The compensation paid to Mr. Gresch for his services
as legal advisor to the Company in fiscal year 2020
amounted to CHF 24,062.
Mr. Derek P. Baudains is the Chief Executive Officer of
the Louvre Group Limited. LTS Secretaries Limited is a
subsidiary company being part of the Louvre Group.
LTS Secretaries Limited acts as Secretary of Formulafirst
since May 2017 and received total compensation of
CHF 16,155 for services rendered (flat fee).
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Loans to members of governing bodies (5.3)
In principle no loans are granted to members of the
Board. Thus, as of December 31, 2020, no such loans
were outstanding.
Compensation (5.3)
Each member of the Board of Directors receives an equal
flat-rate of compensation as stated in the paragraphs “
Compensation for acting members of governing bodies”, “Share allotment in the year under review” and
“Options” (USD 2,500 per Board member). Including
additional fees and remunerations as stated in paragraph “ Additional fees and remunerations” the total
compensations are the following:

Name

Additional
Fee &
Flat rate
Remu
Fee nerations
CHF
CHF

Total
CHF

Derek Baudains

2,336

16,155

18,491

Paul Broxup

2,336

–

2,336

Markus Gresch

2,336

24,062

26,398

Total

7,008

40,217

47,225

Shareholders or shareholder groups who own more than
10% of the Company’s outstanding shares can submit a
written request to the Board of Directors requesting that
an extraordinary general meeting be convened.
Agenda (6.4)
Shareholders or shareholder groups that own more than
10% of the Company’s outstanding shares can submit a
written request to the Board of Directors requesting that
additional items be added to the agenda for the general
meeting. Requests need to be submitted not later than
40 days before the general meeting.
Registrations in the share register (6.5)
No registered shares are present with the Company’s
capital structure.

Shareholders’ participation (6)

Changes of control and defense measures (7)

Voting-rights and representation restrictions (6.1)
There are no voting rights restrictions. The Articles of
Association do not contain any regulations on participation at the general meeting other than those provided
by British Virgin Islands law.

Duty to make an offer (7.1)
The Company is domiciled in the British Virgin Islands.
On March 28, 2013 the Company’s Articles of Association were amended by adding new Article 12 A as
follows: The obligation to make an offer according to
Art. 32 and Art. 52 of the Swiss Federal Act on Stock
Exchanges and Securities Trading will be waived entirely
(opting out). With the entry into force of the Swiss Federal Act on Financial Institutions the Swiss Federal Act on
Stock Exchanges and Securities Trading is repealed. The
rules regarding making an offer and the possibility to
opt out are now stated in Art. 125 and 135 of the Swiss
Federal Act on Financial Market Infrastructures and Market Conduct in Securities and Derivatives Trading.

Statutory quorums (6.2)
According to Art. 20, Section 5 of the Articles of Association (these can be downloaded on the homepage of
the Company: http://www.formulafirst.vg/2013/05/07/
revidierte-statuten/), a change in the purpose of the
Company or its dissolution with subsequent liquidation
requires the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the votes
cast at a general meeting. The required quorum therefore exceeds the legal minimum requirement stipulated
under British Virgin Islands law.
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Convocation of the general meeting of shareholders (6.3)
The ordinary general meeting is held annually in London
within the first six months after the close of the fiscal
year. The time and place are determined by the Board
of Directors. Invitations to shareholders to participate at
the general meeting are published at the latest twenty
days prior to the meeting in a Zurich, Geneva and British
Virgin Islands newspaper.

Clauses on changes of control (7.2)
There are no clauses on changes of control in agreements or plans in favor of members of the Board.
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Auditors (8)
Duration of mandate and term of office of head
auditor (8.1)
The auditors of the Company are elected for a term
of one year at a time. For the 2020 reporting year the
Company was audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers AG,
Birchstrasse 160, CH-8050 Zurich. The mandate was assigned on December 12, 2003.

Information policy (9)
The Company maintains a website. All relevant information is available at www.formulafirst.vg.
Share price

Bloomberg, Reuters, Homepage
(daily/intraday)

NAV/Share

Bloomberg, Homepage
Finanz + Wirtschaft (Wednesday/
Saturday)

Performance

monthly update (it is published in
the Monthly Report of Formulafirst
which appears on the first working
day of each month on the website of
the Company: http://www.formulafirst.vg/category/monats-news/)

Mr. Rolf Birrer has been the auditor in charge of the auditing mandate for the Company since Fiscal Year 2017.
Auditing fees (8.2)
PricewaterhouseCoopers charged for Fiscal Year 2020
CHF 60,216 for services rendered in connection with auditing the financial statements of the Company.
Additional fees (8.3)
The fees in relation with the desk review of the interim
report the Company paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers
are included in the auditing fees (see 8.2). The fees were
paid for professional services in respect of specific procedures in relation to the interim financial statements of
the Company for the period ended 30 June 2020.
Supervisory and control instruments pertaining to
the audit (8.4)
The auditor report to the Board of Directors describes in
a Long Form report all examined issues. Members of the
Board had one meeting during the audit process with
PricewaterhouseCoopers. This meeting takes place before the Annual General Meeting. The Board of Directors annually assesses the performance, compensation
and independence of the auditors. The critera that are of
particular importance in these reviews are competence
in reporting, understanding of the structure, nature
and the object of the Company, the quality of reporting, compliance with deadlines, response time as well as
the cost compared to other players in the industry. The
independence of the auditor is reflected by the absence
of conflicts of interest with other mandates. The Board
of Directors annually controls the extent of the external
auditing, the auditing plans and the respective programs
and discusses auditing results with the external auditors
at the occasion of the Board of Directors’ meeting following the audit.
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The Annual/Semi-Annual report is published on the
Company’s Website (Annual report: http://www.formulafirst.vg/category/jahresberichte/ and Semi-Annual
report: http://www.formulafirst.vg/category/halbjahresberichte/) or may be sent upon request by e-mail or by
post.
Price-relevant information is announced in accordance
with the ad-hoc communications guidelines of SIX Swiss
Exchange. Invitations to the annual general meetings of
shareholders are communicated via a calling notice published in a British Virgin Islands (The BVI Beacon), Zurich
(NZZ) and Geneva (Le Temps) newspaper.
Reuters

FFI.S

Bloomberg

FFI SW <Equity>

CH Valorennummer

1 462 983

ISIN

VGG3637V1094
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Derek P. Baudains (Guernsey)
Paul Broxup (UK)
Markus Gresch (Switzerland)

REGISTERED OFFICE
Formulafirst Ltd
PO Box 3483
Road Town, Tortola
British Virgin Islands

COMPANY SECRETARY
LTS Secretaries Limited
R.G. Hodge Plaza, 3rd Floor,
Wickham’s Cay 1
Road Town, Tortola
British Virgin Islands

ADMINISTRATOR
Swiss Financial Services
(Ireland) Ltd.
Block 4B, Cleaboy Business Park
Old Kilmeaden Road
Waterford
Ireland

CUSTODIAN & PAYING AGENT
Helvetische Bank AG
Seefeldstrasse 215
CH-8008 Zurich
Switzerland

LEGAL ADVISORS
Gresch & Schwab
Staldenbachstrasse 9b
P.O. Box
CH-8808 Pfaeffikon/SZ
Switzerland

INVESTMENT MANAGER
2trade group ltd.
Baarerstrasse 2
CH-6300Zug
Switzerland

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers AG
Birchstrasse 160
CH-8050 Zurich
Switzerland

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Dynamic Group AG
Utoquai 43
CH-8008 Zurich
Switzerland
PUBLICATION OF NET ASSET VALUE
Bloomberg: FFI SW<Equity>NAV
Finanz und Wirtschaft
www.formulafirst.vg
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TICKER/SECURITY CODES
Reuters: FFI.S
Bloomberg: FFI.SW <Equity>
CH Valorennummer: 1 462 983
ISIN: VGG3637V1094
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